WORLD  WAR  II  NEWTON  FLOTMAN 

 AND  SAXLINGHAM  THORPE 
In 1939 Newton Flotman and Saxlingham Thorpe bore little resemblance to the villages as they are today.  People knew not just their immediate neighbours but everyone in the community.  Of course, the new bridge and road had not been constructed at this time and all traffic travelled over the old bridge.  Old Street was known as the Front Street and Flordon Road was known as the Back Street.  As the Back Street progressed further along towards Flordon it was called Station Road as it led to the Railway Station at Flordon.  Unfortunately many older properties in the villages have been demolished in the name of progress.  

The Post Office at the corner of Short Street and Front Street also sold some basic provisions, and the sub-postmaster was Arthur Bond.  The Bakery (always called the Bake Office), situated next door to the Post Office facing onto Front Street, was run by George Funnell, assisted by Eric Masters.  The White House opposite the Bake Office was demolished in the 1960s when the new bridge and road were constructed, as were the thatched cottages opposite the Maid's Head public house.  Also in Front Street was the Butcher and Grocer's shop, the proprietor being George Catchpole.   The shop was next to the Maid's Head (which in the 1939 Register was referred to as the Maid's Head Hotel), and Peter Hale is listed as being publican as well as a carpenter's labourer.  (The Maid's Head later became the Waterside Inn and then Relish restaurant before ceasing business).

The proprietor of the Garage, (where Seastar motorcycles is now) was Albert Brighton.     The business had originally started as a shed where bicycles were repaired but had expanded over the years as motor vehicles became more common.  The shop attached to the garage subsequently sold all sorts of hardware.  Cottages opposite the garage and next door to it have been demolished.

There were more than a dozen farms in the villages, including those in Newton Greenways and Foxhole.  Farm labour still provided local employment for a significant number of residents.

In Saxlingham Thorpe William Duffield (retired) was living in the Mill House (now demolished) at Duffield's Mill and opposite was the Forge where George Thrower was the blacksmith.  Several cottages near the Forge have also been demolished.  The West End public house (now the Duke of Delhi restaurant) was run by Donald Wiseman who was also a market gardener.  

Digging for Victory was an important slogan during World War II and allotments were in demand for people to grow their own food even though most village properties had gardens.  King's Green was previously known as “the heater” (due to its shape resembling that of the stand on which old fashioned irons stood) and contained allotment gardens.

Newton Flotman remained relatively unscathed during the war although three bombs were dropped in the area of the present day village playing field.  The story goes that an American plane on a bombing mission had been unable to open the bomb doors over the intended target.  The crew managed to eventually free the bomb doors and, as it was necessary to offload bombs before landing, the bombs were dropped without damage to life or property on this field.  An RAF Stirling bomber also crash landed on the field north of the Church on the night of 14/15th  July 1941 after the plane ran out of fuel when returning from a bombing mission to Hanover.   All the crew bailed out successfully and survived, although two were injured.   Village children later combed the crash site to collect perspex and metal to make rings and novelties.  It has also been suggested that around 40 incendiary bombs were dropped in the Newton Flotman area in 1940.

As the war progressed a number of children were evacuated from areas of danger to the comparative safety of the villages.  Someone who lived in Saxlingham Thorpe during the war  remembers three families were evacuated from Norwich after their houses were bombed out, some living at Marsh View on the Lower Tasburgh Road at Saxlingham Thorpe.  Nine evacuees were admitted to Newton Flotman School on September 11th 1939.  There were others evacuated to the village, some coming to stay with relatives.  Parents of children who lived in Swainsthorpe but attended Newton Flotman School were worried that the 2 mile journey to school by bus left them vulnerable to danger in the case of air raids.  Wire netting was fitted to the school windows as extra protection and of course the windows had the obligatory blackout blinds. 

The school and the church were central to village life.  Mrs Barnell, the headteacher, and other members of her family lived in the schoolhouse which was attached to the school (now the ARTS Centre).  Children had their gas masks fitted and checked at the school.  The Reverend Walter Long lived at the Old Rectory in Church Lane with his wife Evelyn and they employed a cook and a house/parlour maid

The railway level crossing at the end of Church Lane had gates that were opened and closed manually at this time and the Crossing Keeper was Harry Woolsey who lived in a house there with his family.  

There was no doctor's surgery in Newton Flotman or Saxlingham Thorpe at this time and if you were unwell you either had to visit Dr Gibson at his surgery in Shotesham Lane in Saxlingham – not so easy when the majority of villagers were not car owners - or ask him to make a home visit.                                                                                                                                             

Robert Walker tells in his book 'Newton Flotman History of a Norfolk Village' published in 1973 by J. L. Brighton who was a farmer and contractor at Lime Kiln Farm, that, following the outbreak of WW2, Newton Flotman villagers formed an Invasion Committee and also helped to raise money for Warship Week, Wings for Victory Week and Salute the Soldier Week.  

Many in the villages volunteered to help the war effort in various ways in addition to their normal occupations.  At the start of the war some had become Special Constables or Air Raid Precaution Wardens, whilst others were involved in the Red Cross, the Women's Voluntary Service, the Auxiliary Fire Service, the Observer Corps and the First Aid Nursing Yeomanry. 

The Local Defence Volunteers were instituted in May 1940, (later to become the Home Guard), when War Minister Antony Eden asked for all able-bodied 17-65 year old men who were not already in military service to volunteer.  Applications flooded in, including some Newton Flotman men.  One villager recounted that he had joined the Home Guard and had been designated as the cycle messenger one evening when training exercises were taking place.  His task was to cycle between the various Home Guard posts to pass on messages.  As he had already cycled to Norwich and back that day to go to work he was rather disgruntled.  His Home Guard days were numbered as he was called up for army service shortly after his 18th birthday in 1943.       

A person who lived in Saxlingham Thorpe during the war recounts how a  large drum of explosives was suspended by the Home Guard from a rope above the A140 between a telegraph pole and the church gate.  In case of invasion, the plan was to drop the explosives and render the road impassable!  The Home Guard also made holes in the wall of the village pound, (which then stood in the corner of the field at the junction of the A140 and Pound Lane), through which rifles could be fired. 

Many in the village joined the armed forces.  Among those who served during the Second World War were Frederick Lionel Fuller and Percy George Lewis who are commemorated on the War Memorial in Newton Flotman church. Frederick Lionel Fuller was serving with the Royal Air Force Volunteer Reserve when he died on 18 March 1944.  He had lived at 4 Council Houses (now Lime Bank) and is buried in Newton Flotman churchyard.  Percy George Lewis was serving with the Royal Naval Patrol Service when he died on 21 February 1941 and is also remembered on the Lowestoft Naval Memorial.  He had lived in a cottage in the Back Street which has since been demolished.

The Newton Flotman and Saxlingham Thorpe Heritage Group is grateful to those who have kindly shared wartime memories.    

NEWTON  FLOTMAN & SAXLINGHAM THORPE/FOXHOLE  CIVILIANS  WHO  WERE VOLUNTEERING  TO  HELP  THE  WAR  EFFORT  EXTRACTED  FROM  THE  1939 REGISTER
(Some entries are difficult to decipher & some are censored so this may not be a complete list)

Charles E Atkins, Dairy Farmer, Church Farm, The Greenways  
Special Constable

Arthur S Bond, Sub Postmaster, Short Street, Newton Flotman

Special Constable



John W Reeve, Retired County Roadman, 1 Park Cottage, N F 

Special Constable


William R Abbs, Cowman, Short Street, Newton Flotman

Special Constable

William Walker, Dairy Farmer, Back Street, Newton Flotman

Special Constable

William  G Martin, Dairy Farmer, Lodge Farm, Cargate Lane, Sax Thorppe
Special Constable




 
Thomas D Cobb, Farmer, Hill Farm, Saxlingham Thorpe


Special Constable 

At the outset of the war Police numbers were reduced as military reservists returned to their units and some young Police Officers volunteered for military duty as the Police service was not a reserved occupation.  The Police were put under a huge strain as a large number of new regulations came into force.  To cope with this the number of Special Constables was increased to around 130,000.  About 7,000 of these were full time and received a wage but the remainder were unpaid part time volunteers.  
William Ringer, Transport Labourer for Miller, Mustard & Starch Manufacturer, Black Mill, Saxlingham Thorpe





Auxiliary Fire Service Norwich
Endon W Blatch, Commercial Traveller in …., Chandler's Farm,  AFS Newton Flotman

The Auxiliary Fire Service was set up in 1938 as part of the Civil Defence Service to support existing local fire services.  A recruitment drive was launched with over 28,000 firefighters needed to support the Fire Brigade's 2,500 officers and firefighters.  They were unpaid volunteers but could be called up for whole-time paid service if necessary.  This was very similar to the wartime establishment of the Special Constabulary.  
Clara E Pells, Unpaid domestic duties, Front Street, Newton Flotman


WVS

Madge Walker, Unpaid domestic duties, Back Street, Newton Flotman

WVS

Rosina H Marlow, Waitress, 6 Council Houses, Newton Flotman


WVS

Olive F M Brighton, Unpaid domestic duties, Back Street, Newton Flotman

WVS

The Women's Voluntary Service officially launched in June 1938 and the following November the first uniform of overcoat, hat and badge was issued.  Members were responsible for purchasing their own uniform and more items of uniform subsequently became available. Financial support was offered to members to buy their uniforms and in August 1942 when clothes rationing was introduced WVS members could purchase material to make their own uniforms.  The Service was originally set up to train women to be able to help with air raid precautions.  It soon developed into running emergency rest centres, first aid and assisting with the evacuation and billeting of children.  They made bandages and knitted and sewed clothing like scarves, vests and pyjamas for soldiers, and salvaged metal that could be recycled to build tanks and weapons.  Over 1 million women volunteered.    

Nellie S Barnell, Schoolteacher, School House, Newton Flotman Red Cross Immobile

Many St John Ambulance and Red Cross members joined the Civil Nursing Reserve.  They were either classed as mobile or immobile.  Mobile members could be sent anywhere at home or abroad whereas immobile members stayed in their local area.
Eileen M. Warren, The Lodge, Cargate Lane, Saxlingham Thorpe Women's Transport Service,  

                                                                                                F.A.N.Y    
The First Aid Nursing Yeomanry was formed in 1907 as a first aid link between the front lines and field hospitals and was given the name Yeomanry as they were originally on horseback.  They were very active in WWI, driving ambulances and also opening hospitals and convalescent homes.  Being independent and self financing the F.A.N.Y was not disbanded after WW1 unlike other women's services.  In 1937 they became the Women's Transport Service F.A.N.Y. and they trained in one of four fields: Motor Transport, Wireless Telegraphy, Codes or General.  Their highly skilled work was often top secret and some served with the Special Operations Executive and were involved in the highly secretive Auxiliary Units set up in 1940 as a stay-behind force in case of invasion.  
Charles F Hill, Insurance Clerk, Lodge Cottage, Cargate Lane,
Controller, No. 16 Group       

                                                                                          Observer   Saxlingham Thorpe

Cyril A Haselfoot, Solicitor, Low Meadows, Cargate Lane,    Member of the Observer Corps, 
                                                                                        Group 16,   Saxlingham Thorpe 

The Observer Corps was formed in 1925.  It operated at local level during WW2 and was intended for the visual detection, identification, tracking and reporting of aircraft over Great Britain.  High quality Royal Navy-issue binoculars were provided to Observers whose observation posts often consisted of a wooden garden shed located next to a telegraph pole.  This enabled a telecommunication link to be established with a control centre, often via a local telephone exchange.  Later on in the war some areas had purpose built observation posts.  

Richard F Rayson, Roadworker, The Greenways



ARP NCC

Gordon H Pells, Agricultural Labourer, Front Street, Newton Flotman
ARP Warden & Red Cross

George W Catchpole, Butcher & Grocer, Front Street, Newton Flotman
ARP Warden 

Russell S Brown, County Roadman, 2 Council Houses, Newton Flotman
ARP for NCC


George A Stearman, Cowman, Back Street, Newton Flotman

ARP Warden

James L Brighton, Farmer & Contractor, Lime Kiln Farm, Back Street,  
Head Warden ARP
Newton Flotman

Hector J Fish, Land Worker, Back Street, Newton Flotman
ARP Warden, 5th Division East A.....  

Reginald C Savory, Bricklayer's General Labourer, Station Road, 

ARP Light Rescue & …..

Newton Flotman

Robert H Oldman, Lorry Driver, Turnpike, Saxlingham Thorpe

ARP Volunteer

John Brighton, Norfolk County Council General Labourer,


NCC ARP Decontamination

8 Council Houses, Saxlingham Thorpe

Frederick W Savory, General Labourer, 9 Council Houses,


ARP Rescue & Repair Work

Saxlingham Thorpe

John Hotblack, Farmer, Fruit Farm, Saxlingham Thorpe


ARP Warden

Ernest A Carr, Market Gardener, Fruit Farm, Saxlingham Thorpe

ARP Warden







Stanley H. Warren, County Surveyor of Norfolk, The Lodge,

In Norfolk County Council Cargate Lane, Saxlingham Thorpe


   C.... ? Defence, Head of                 

                                                                                      Decontamination Squads, Rescue Parties, Road …                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    William B Eastell, General Labourer, Back Street, Newton Flotman
Dispatch Rider    
In March 1935 the Air Raid Precautions (ARP) Department was created and in April 1937 the Air Raid Warden's Service was formed.  On 1 January 1938 the Air Raid Precautions Act came into force making local authorities responsible for creating and organising their own ARP services.  Usually volunteers were at least 30 yrs old but in fact men and women of all ages were wardens.  The initial aim was to have one warden to every 500 residents. 

From 1 September 1939 Air Raid Precautions wardens enforced the “blackout”.  Heavy curtains or shutters were required on all private residences, commercial premises and factories so that enemy aircraft were unable to locate targets.  They also issued gas masks and air raid shelters.  From 1941 the ARP changed its title to Civil Defence Service to reflect the wide range of roles undertaken by volunteers.  
First Aid volunteers were trained to give first response help to those injured in bombing incidents.  The rescue services were to help in rescuing persons from bombed premises.  Some volunteers were trained to deal with cleaning up incidents  involving chemical and gas weapons (men only).

At the beginning of the war ARP volunteers had no uniforms.  They had arm bands and wore badges on their civilian clothes.  In October 1939 they were issued with blue overalls with a red on black ARP badge.  They wore helmets which were not of the same grade as those issued to military personnel and had a small hole drilled in the rim to show that they were not for front line use.  Helmets would be marked with a letter or letters to allow others to ascertain their role at an incident.

By the outbreak of World War II there were more than 1.5 million people involved in the various ARP services in Britain.  With the decreasing threat from enemy bombing, the numbers of volunteers had dropped to 800,000 (180,000 women) by 1944. 


Our grateful thanks to Moyra Parker for putting this research together. This material was to form part out the planned exhibitions this year to mark VE&5  VJ7s and Remembrance Sunday. We have included them by way of commemoration of those events. 

Please do get in touch to add to this record or anything that you can put us right on! Contact kirstenremer@gmail.com 
Please do take a look at the picture of the Home Guard. We have used a couple of copies of the photos which have name written on to try to identify people as far as is possible again if you recognise someone let us know!  

